# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/17/2020 4:31 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

#### COURT OF APPEALS NO. 78788-8-I

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. \_98664-9

LUCY CELES,

Petitioner,

VS.

## LONE PINE APARTMENTS, LLC; TARGA REAL ESTATE SERVICES, INC.;

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Rodney L. Umberger, WSBA #24948 Eddy Silverman, WSBA #53494 Jessica Cox, WSBA #53027 Erin J. Varriano, WSBA #40572 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380 Phone: (206) 628-6600

Phone: (206) 628-6600 Fax: (206) 628-6611

Attorneys for Respondents Lone Pine Apartments, LLC and Targa Real Estate Services, Inc.

####

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER				
II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1				
III. INTR	CODUCTION1			
IV. ISSU	TE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW3			
V. STATEMENT OF CASE3				
A.	One Non-Tenant Sets Lone Pine Apartments On Fire Following A Dispute With Another Non-Tenant			
В.	Lone Pine's Knowledge of Drugs On the Property Was, At Best, Vague4			
1.	Black and Bermudez Were Known For Being Loud And Often Entertaining Visitors At Off-Hours5			
2.	Celes Had Knowledge That Black and Bermudez Had Frequent Visitors, But Did Not Witness Drug Dealing5			
3.	The Onsite Maintenance Man Never Witnessed Drug Dealing			
4.	Other Lone Pine Tenants Only Suspected Drug Dealing Because of Frequent Visitors and Apartment Gossip6			
C.	There Is No Evidence That The Argument Which Led to the Arson Was Drug Related In Any Way8			
D.	No Arson Previously Took Place On The Property9			
VI. AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT9				
A.	Standard of Review and The Existence Of A Legal Duty10			
В.	Division I Incorrectly Applied The "General Field of Danger" Test Which Conflicts With This Court's Prior Holding12			
1.	McKown Did Not "Broaden" Foreseeability In Any Way Relevant To This Case, Nor Grant License To Muddle The Different Avenues For Proving Foreseeability14			
2.	The Broader <i>McLeod</i> Analysis Division I Applied Is Driven By Differing "Considerations of Logic, Common Sense, Justice, Policy, and Precedent"16			
3.	Finding A Legal Duty Based Upon Generalizations Only Encourages Landowners To Deal In Stereotypes And Vagaries			

	4.	Judge Cahan's Concerns About Businesses Fleeing	
		Underserved Communities Were Real, If Not, Understated19	
VII.	CONC	LUSION20	

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Page(s)
STATE CASES
Bernethy v. Walt Failor's, Inc., 97 Wn.2d 929, 653 P.2d 280 (1982)12
Christensen v. Royal Sch. Dist. No. 160, 156 Wn.2d 62, 67, 124 P.3d 283 (2005)11
Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 958 P.2d 301 (1998)11
Hansen v. Friend, 118 Wn.2d 476, 824 P.2d 483 (1992)10
Hendrickson v. Moses Lake Sch. Dist., 192 Wn.2d 269, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018)16, 17
Hopkins v. Seattle Pub. Sch. Dist. No. 1, 195 Wn. App. 96, 380 P.3d 584 (2016)17
Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Avenue Assoc., 116 Wn.2d 217, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991)19, 20
Kelly v. Falin, 127 Wn.2d 31, 896 P.2d 1245 (1995)10
Kim v. Budget Rent A Car Sys., 143 Wn.2d 190, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001)19
Kruse v. Hemp, 121 Wn.2d 715, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993)10
Martin v. Johnson, 141 Wn. App. 611, 170 P.3d 1198 (2007)14
McKown v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc., 182 Wn.2d 752, 344 P.3d 661 (2015) passim

McLeod v. Grant Cty School Dist. No. 128, 42 Wn.2d 316, 255 P.2d 360 (1953)16, 17
Meyers v. Ferndale Sch. Dist., 457 P.3d 483 (Wash. Ct. App. 2020)16, 17
Nivens v. 7–11 Hoagy's Corner, 133 Wn.2d 192, 943 P.2d 286 (1997)11
Passovoy v. Nordstrom, Inc., 52 Wn. App. 166, 758 P.2d 524 (1988)12
Petersen v. State, 100 Wn.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983)12
Re v. Tenney, 56 Wn. App. 394, 783 P.2d 632 (1989)14
Younce v. Ferguson, 106 Wn.2d 658, 724 P.2d 991 (1986)11
FEDERAL CASES
McKown v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc., 2018 WL 3971960 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 20, 2018)14, 15
McPhail v. Municipality of Culebra, 598 F.2d 603 (1st Cir. 1979)14
OTHER AUTHORITIES
United States Department of Health and Human Services, <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/opioids/about-the-epidemic/index.html">https://www.hhs.gov/opioids/about-the-epidemic/index.html</a> (last visited June 16, 2020)

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners are Lone Pine Apartments, LLC and Targa Real Estate Services, Inc. (collectively "Lone Pine"). They were defendants in the King County Superior Court proceeding and respondents in Division I of the Court of Appeals. Lone Pine respectfully seeks review and reversal of Division I's decision. Summary judgment should be reinstated.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On June 6, 2018, the Honorable Regina Cahan granted Lone Pine's motion for summary judgment based upon the foreseeability standard articulated by this Court in *McKown v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc.*, 182 Wn.2d 752, 772, 344 P.3d 661 (2015). On May 18, 2020, Division I reversed. These decisions are attached as Appendices A and B.

#### III. INTRODUCTION

This is a case where the private lessor is being sued because a non-resident, in retaliation for a transaction that occurred off-site, showed up at the Lone Pine Apartment complex and set it on fire. A tenant jumped out the window to avoid the flames, and was injured. No one claims that Lone Pine was complicit in the transaction or crime. No one claims that Lone Pine had knowledge of prior arsons, or indeed, any prior violent crime. The Court of Appeals found legal foreseeability based upon a questionable sense of *dissimilar* conduct (petty drug use and loud arguments).

Simply stated, the issue in this case is whether a civilian property manager has a legal duty to anticipate and protect against all conceivable third party crime, by nonresidents, based upon a vague sense of petty and undisputedly, dissimilar conduct. This Court said no in *McKown*, and the trial court here correctly applied the holding in *McKown*, not only based on precedent, but also acknowledging the broad public policy consequences of mandating that un-trained citizens stereotype their tenants, or worse, abandon underserved communities altogether.

Division I gutted that holding and reinjected the very "notice" standard that this Court specifically rejected in this particular context. *Compare* Op. at 8 ("the harm fell into a general field of danger that [Lone Pine] should have anticipated") *with McKown v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc.*, 182 Wn.2d 752, 772, 344 P.3d 661 (2015) (rejecting "a broad notice rule" which "would become an all-expansive standard for imposing a duty on a business to protect invitees from criminal assaults of third parties on the business premises [and] improperly shift the duty to protect the public against crime from the government to private businesses").

This can only be described as a stark departure from precedent that throws this area of tort law into disarray. Division I's opinion not only renders large portions of *McKown* logically superfluous, but also will leave the very populations this jurisprudence was intended to empower *worse off*.

Ultimately, Division I's decision directly conflicts with this Court's prior holdings and presents an issue of substantial public importance.

#### IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Precedent holds that a criminal act is only legally foreseeable when prior incidents are "sufficiently similar in nature and location to the prior acts of violence, sufficiently close in time to the act in question, and sufficiently numerous." This Court specifically rejected "a broad notice rule" or a "general field of danger" test. The question presented in this case is whether Division I erred when it applied a "general field of danger" test to find a factual issue with respect to whether Lone Pine owed a legal duty to Celes, on the basis of nonspecific "past experience" of the landlord.

#### V. STATEMENT OF CASE

### A. One Non-Tenant Sets Lone Pine Apartments On Fire Following A Dispute With Another Non-Tenant

On September 5, 2014, Linwood Smith, also known as "Black," got into an argument with Roger Faleafine and Alicia Stephens near a bus stop on the corner of Chicago and Lincoln, in Lakewood. CP 25, ¶ 2; 90. None of them were tenants at Lone Pine. *Id.* According to the police report, Black pulled a gun, which Faleafine pushed away, before it went off and hit Stephens' bike. *Id.* 

There is no allegation that any personnel from Lone Pine were involved in, or witness to, this event.

Still worked up from the incident, Faleafine and Stephens left the bus stop in search of gasoline. CP 25, ¶ 2; CP 91. They found a can and filled it up at a nearby Texaco. *Id.* Then, while Stephens stayed behind, Faleafine went out in search of Black. *Id.* With gas can in hand, Faleafine approached Lone Pine. *Id.* He "cut through and hopped the fence," before starting a fire near the apartment unit where he understood Black stayed from time to time. *Id.* 

Lucy Celes, another resident of Lone Pine, lived in a second floor apartment near where the fire was started. CP 25, ¶ 2. She awoke and escaped the fire by jumping off her balcony, sustaining injuries from both the fire and fall. CP 25, ¶ 2; CP 195, ¶ 11.

Prior to September 5, 2014, no one had ever witnessed either Faleafine or Stephens at Lone Pine at any time. CP 26,  $\P$  2.

## B. Lone Pine's Knowledge of Drugs On the Property Was, At Best, Vague

This lawsuit followed. The primary allegation is that Lone Pine should have taken steps to somehow protect Celes from this random act of third party violence, which occurred in retribution for an event between two non-tenants that did not even occur at the complex. The premise is that there was some vague awareness of drugs, therefore a duty to protect against this arson arose.

A disciplined review of what Lone Pine actually knew is in order.

#### 1. <u>Black and Bermudez Were Known For Being Loud And Often</u> Entertaining Visitors At Off-Hours

Although Black was not a tenant of Lone Pine, he was known by other residents to stay with his girlfriend, Tyronda Bermudez. CP 201, ¶ 6. Bermudez subleased through Metropolitan Development Council ("MDC"), which provides apartments to homeless and low income individuals. CP 38, ¶ ¶ 4, 7. Black and Bermudez had loud fights (CP 194, ¶ 7; CP 198, ¶ 6), as well as loud parties (CP 194, ¶¶ 5, 6). Residents also witnessed frequent visitors in and out of their unit. *Id*.

## 2. <u>Celes Had Knowledge That Black and Bermudez Had Frequent Visitors, But Did Not Witness Drug Dealing</u>

Celes never witnessed drug dealing out of Bermudez's unit. CP 194, ¶ 6. She formed that "belief," to be sure, but it was primarily based on "the constant stream of people coming and going from the unit [Unit 2]." *Id*. Many of the visitors were unfriendly and loud. CP 194, ¶ 5. Celes also pointed to statements made by some of the visitors to the effect of, "[h]ey, do you have that stuff!" *Ibid*.

Celes once also saw a woman fall asleep on the stairs, who she suspected wanted cash in order to buy drugs. CP 194, ¶ 5. The woman "had a suitcase with a faux fur coat, rings, bracelets, and clothes that she tried to sell to [Celes]." From this, Celes concluded that she wanted "cash for drugs." *Id*.

Celes brought a few of these suspicions to Lone Pine. CP 194, ¶ 7. She referred to "frightening arguments," as well as "[foot] traffic, conversations suggestive of transactions, noise, and partying." *Id.* She also told the Lone Pine property manager that she thought tenants should be screened better. *Id.* But she never told Lone Pine that she witnessed drug dealing (and certainly not "violent crime"), because she herself did not. *Id.* 

#### 3. The Onsite Maintenance Man Never Witnessed Drug Dealing

Ignacio Agbanlog lived and worked as a maintenance man at Lone Pine during the time of the fire. CP 201, ¶ 1. Similar to Celes, Agbanlog never witnessed drug dealing at Lone Pine. CP 201, ¶ 7. Though he "suspected drug dealing was going on," he admitted that he "never saw Black or Ty [Bermudez] dealing drugs." *Id*.

His suspicions were also based on the fact that Black and Bermudez had "strange visitors... at odd hours" and "loud arguments." CP 201, ¶ 6. Like other personnel at Lone Pine, he had generalized beliefs, but no proof. See CP 205, ¶ 12.

4. Other Lone Pine Tenants Only Suspected Drug Dealing Because of Frequent Visitors and Apartment Gossip

The other Lone Pine tenants knew little more.

Beverly Susuico, a resident at the time of the fire, suspected Black and Bermudez were selling drugs because "people would come and go to

that apartment in the evening and early morning. They would show up at the apartment, go inside, and then leave immediately." CP 330, ¶ 3.

Jonica Babauta, similarly, based her opinion on the fact that she saw "lots of people coming and going to Unit 2" and hearsay from others. CP 293, ¶ 3. She did not report any of this to Lone Pine. CP 293, ¶5.

The same is true for resident Veronica Francisco. She witnessed people "coming to the [apartment] complex [at] all hours of the day. They would either arrive on foot or drive into the lot. They were not tenants." CP 198, ¶ 2. While Francisco did witness at least one person using drugs at the apartment complex, she did not witness this near Unit 2 (in fact, she stated she saw an unknown "female sitting on the steps of Unit 19, snorting and shooting up"), and did not report this Lone Pine anyway. CP 198, ¶ 3; CP 199, ¶ 11.

Lastly, James Rasmussen, stated that he suspected drug dealing, and did share his suspicions with Michelle Riles, the apartment manager, who shared the concern—but (like Rasmussen) stated that she did not have proof of it. CP 205, ¶ 12. She only knew that Unit 2 "had a lot of visitors." *Id*.

And Riles was correct about the number of visitors, according to the American Apartment Owners Association, cited by Celes. Of the Five Signs of drug dealing, the only one even cited is the number of visitors. And the document itself confirms that "short visits are not reason alone to believe

that your tenants are dealing drugs"; "if your rental is getting twenty visitors every evening (late into the night)," then a "closer look" may be warranted. See CP 348.

## C. There Is No Evidence That The Argument Which Led to the Arson Was Drug Related In Any Way

While there was concrete proof Black and Bermudez were loud, cantankerous<sup>1</sup> and entertained visitors at odd hours, there was no known track record of violent crime.<sup>2</sup> Nor was there any discernible evidence connecting drugs in Bermudez's unit (which no one saw) to anything meaningful—especially arson or other violent crime. CP 26; CP 195 ¶ 13; CP 767.

Also worthwhile noting, the arson that *did* occur was itself not even drug-related. CP 26. A few individuals heard yelling to the effect of "you'll regret this!" and "[d]on't worry, I get you, I got you, I'll be back!" CP 201, ¶ 4; CP 293, ¶ 4. But no one cited anything about drugs being involved. Even the police report lacks any information suggesting that the off-property dispute was drug-related. CP 90-91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At one point, the police responded to a domestic violence call that Bermudez made about Black. No one was physically injured, and Black was not there. Bermudez indicated that they had broken up, and no arrests were made. CP 766-67. There is no evidence that Lone Pine was made aware of this incident or given this report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Celes pointed to completely unrelated issues, which Lone Pine would have no reason to know about, such as Black being stopped for riding his bike without a helmet and found with a knife and drugs. CP 300-01. It is unclear how this puts Lone Pine on notice of anything.

#### D. No Arson Previously Took Place On The Property

The fire on September, 5, 2014 was the first arson that occurred on the Property during Lone Pine's ownership and management Id. 26. And while it is true that Lone Pine was aware of other instances where the police were called to the Property, none of these incidents involved arson, and none involved drug related activity. Id. 195, ¶ 13; 767.

#### VI. AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

Virtually everything is foreseeable in the broadest sense of the word. The word is bounded only by the imagination of the foreseer. But it does not follow that lessors are liable for everything imaginable. The opposite is, in fact, true. Until 30 days ago, a duty to protect others from the criminality of third parties was the exception rather than the rule. And those limited exceptions usually lived in the realm of special relationships and conduct *by the defendant* that increased the risk of harm to the plaintiff. Neither instance is alleged here.

In the context of landowners, courts have always treaded carefully—limiting duty, based upon foreseeability, to dangers that the defendant had reason to know of based upon a track record of incidents that are sufficiently similar in nature, timing, location, and numerosity. *McKown*, 182 Wn.2d at 772. Absent this, "the act is likely unforeseeable as a matter of law under the prior similar incidents test." *Id.* The arson was preceded by zero

substantially similar incidents, and only vague allegations of drug-dealing, many of which were not even conveyed to Lone Pine. Not only is it fundamentally unfair to hold Lone Pine liable under these facts for the conduct of a criminal arsonist, but also this outcome implicates serious public policy concerns. Lessors would be encouraged, if not required, to displace people for minor infractions. Or worse, this unique and unwieldy duty will simply make housing in certain communities cost-prohibitive—which is precisely the adverse outcome Judge Cahan cited. CP 1077 (citing *Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Avenue Assoc.*, 116 Wn.2d 217, 236, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991)).

Division I rewrote this carefully-crafted standard, upending both precedent and crucial policy considerations. That holding should be reviewed.

#### A. Standard of Review and The Existence Of A Legal Duty

The Court reviews summary judgment *de novo*, and engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Kruse v. Hemp*, 121 Wn.2d 715, 722, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993).

Duty is the "threshold question" in any negligence case, *Kelly v. Falin*, 127 Wn.2d 31, 36, 896 P.2d 1245 (1995), and a question of law. *Hansen v. Friend*, 118 Wn.2d 476, 479, 824 P.2d 483 (1992). In the context of duty, foreseeability is for the court to decide. *McKown*, 182 Wn.2d at

757; cf. Christensen v. Royal Sch. Dist. No. 160, 156 Wn.2d 62, 67, 124 P.3d 283 (2005) (existence of a legal duty is a question of law and depends on "mixed considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent").

"Washington courts have followed a careful course when considering imposing liability on landowners or possessors in general." DeWolf and Allen, 16 Washington Practice § 2:14 (4th ed. 2018) (quoting *McKown.*, 182 Wn.2d at 757). The courts do not "delegate complex policy decisions to a jury" or resign landowners to "unlimited liability" arising out of the acts of others. *See Younce v. Ferguson*, 106 Wn.2d 658, 666, 724 P.2d 991 (1986) (declining to abandon the traditional premises liability classifications). Thus, it is not a simple foreseeability analysis, nor a "factual issue" that can be propped up by a paid-expert. As *McKown* confirmed, it is a strict test in this context.

"The general rule at common law is that a private person does not have a duty to protect others from the criminal acts of third parties." *Nivens* v. 7–11 Hoagy's Corner, 133 Wn.2d 192, 199, 943 P.2d 286 (1997); Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 674, 958 P.2d 301 (1998) (person generally has no duty to come to the aid of a stranger or protect others from the criminal acts of third persons).

There are exceptions, to be sure. For example, if the defendant somehow increased the risk to plaintiff vis-à-vis the criminal conduct, a duty is likely created. *See Passovoy v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, 52 Wn. App. 166, 175, 758 P.2d 524, 530 (1988) (finding liability when defendant "create[d] an unreasonable risk of causing such harm," while chasing a fleeing shoplifter, in order to defend[] property"). A duty may also be owed when a property owner has knowledge of "imminent harm from criminal conduct," or there is a "take charge" custodial relationship between the defendant and criminal. *See, e.g, Petersen v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983) (psychotherapist—patient); *Bernethy v. Walt Failor's, Inc.*, 97 Wn.2d 929, 934, 653 P.2d 280 (1982) (customer—store owner). None of these exceptions apply.

The only exception Celes argued below was that Lone Pine had a duty to protect her from the arson by virtue of its awareness of drugs.

### B. Division I Incorrectly Applied The "General Field of Danger" Test Which Conflicts With This Court's Prior Holding

In *McKown*, this Court answered questions certified by the Ninth Circuit, addressing the scope of a shopping mall owner's responsibility for harm that results when third parties commit criminal acts on the premises. 182 Wn.2d at 757. The plaintiff in *McKown* was shot and wounded after a man in a dark trench coat concealing a rifle and pistol opened fire on shoppers and employees. *Id*.

To be clear, the focus of this case was on proving duty based upon "acts of similar violence." Though the trial court acknowledged that this "is not the only way for a plaintiff to establish a duty... it is the one we focus on here because prior history of violence is really the only basis for liability that the parties meaningfully address and the only one that the Ninth Circuit has asked us to clarify." *Id.* at 774.

The same was true here, as Judge Cahan emphasized in her Order:

Although other types of criminal acts had occurred in the area, were frequent and close in time to the arson, they were not sufficiently similar in nature to put Lone Pine and Targa on notice of the criminal act that resulted in injury to the plaintiff in this case.

This does not end the inquiry, however, because McKown stated that a plaintiff may establish the duty through other methods. The Restatement of Torts also relied on location or the character of the business to establish a duty. Plaintiff [Celes] does not make any argument based on these factors.

CP 1076-77 (emphasis added). Thus, the focus was on whether a duty is owed based upon acts of similar violence. No other avenue was argued or proven, nor should one have been entertained on appeal.

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