FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/17/2020 3:31 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 98664-9

LUCY CELES Respondent,

v.

LONE PINE APARTMENTS, LLC, AND TARGA REAL ESTATE SERVICES, INC.,

Petitioners.

RESPONDENT'S OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LUCAS GARRETT, WSBA #38452 SCHROETER, GOLDMARK & BENDER 500 Central Building 810 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 622-8000

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

II. ARGUMENT

This appeal arises out of Defendants' motion for summary judgment, a posture in which a court must "consider all evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the nonmovant." *Morris v. McNicol*, 83 Wn.2d 491, 494, 519 P.2d 7 (1974); *see also* CR 56(c). The Supreme Court will accept review only when a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals or when then a case involves significant constitutional issues or issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). These criteria are not met here, and the Court should decline review.

⁹ Defendants' assertions that "[n]o one claims that Lone Pine had knowledge of . . . any prior violent crime" and "there was no known track record of violent crime" are unequivocally false. *See* Pet., at 1, 8.

A. Defendants had a special relationship with Ms. Celes sufficient to support a duty to guard against third-party criminal conduct.

A duty to protect others from third-party criminal conduct may arise if a special relationship exists between the defendant and the third person or between the defendant and the plaintiff. *Nivens v. 7-11 Hoagy's Corner*, 133 Wn.2d 192, 200, 943 P.2d 286 (1997). While a harm must be sufficiently foreseeable before a duty arises, a defendant bound by such a duty is required to exercise reasonable care to address foreseeable harms. *Id.* at 205.

Under Washington law, a variety of relationships are deemed sufficiently "special" such that they give rise to a duty to prevent third party criminal conduct.¹⁰ Such a duty exists between a business and its invitees, including a landlord and its tenants.¹¹ Ms. Celes was Defendants' tenant and invitee, and therefore Defendants had a special relationship with her.¹² Ms.

¹⁰ See, e.g., Donohoe v. State, 135 Wn. App. 824, 837, 142 P.3d 654 (2006) (identifying special relationships between certain individuals and schools, hotels, hospitals, businesses, taverns, and possessors of land); Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 314A, 315. Defendants suggest cases involving the "special relationship" between schools and students are different and therefore inapplicable. Pet., at 17. This is incorrect. A defendant need not have custody of a plaintiff for a special relationship to arise, as only "entrustment" for the protection of another is required. *H.B.H. v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 173, 429 P.3d 484 (2018). Washington courts have recognized that business-invitee and landlord-tenant relationships satisfy this entrustment criteria. *Nivens*, 133 Wn.2d at 202; *Griffin v. W. RS, Inc.*, 97 Wn. App. 557, 567, 984 P.2d 1070 (1999), *rev'd on other grounds*, 143 Wn.2d 81, 18 P.3d 558 (2001). Nor is the duty arising from the special relationship between a school and its students heightened, as the duty in all instances is one of reasonable care to prevent foreseeable harm. *H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 169; *Hendrickson v. Moses Lake Sch. Dist.*, 192 Wn.2d 269, 275-78, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018).

¹¹ See, e.g., Nivens, 133 Wn.2d at 195; Griffin, 97 Wn. App. at 566; Faulkner v. Raquetball Vill. Condo. Assn., 106 Wn. App. 483, 23 P.3d 1135 (2001); accord Mucsi v. Graoch Assocs. Ltd. P'ship No. 12, 144 Wn.2d 847, 855, 31 P.3d 684 (2001) ("A residential tenant is an invitee.").

¹² Defendants also had a special relationship with the occupants of Unit 2 by virtue

Celes's status as Defendants' tenant and invitee has never been meaningfully contested, and Defendants' Petition glosses over these principles almost entirely. The conclusion that Defendants had a special relationship with Ms. Celes sufficient to support a duty to prevent foreseeable third-party criminal conduct is unambiguously correct under existing authority and is not a basis for review by this Court.

B. The Court of Appeals committed no error with respect to any factual determination, nor if it did would any such error justify review by this Court.

As explained above, Plaintiff presented evidence sufficient to permit a reasonable jury to conclude that Mr. Smith was selling drugs from Unit 2, that Defendants had notice that Mr. Smith was selling drugs from Unit 2, and that Ms. Celes's injuries were as a factual matter—irrespective of the legal standard—a foreseeable consequence of that activity. Defendants complain that they lacked "proof" of drug trafficking, apparently because they did not literally see drugs changing hands, which ignores that circumstantial proof is in fact proof. Instead, the evidence at summary judgment was that the standard of care for property managers does not require the near certainty Defendants insist on, CP at 385-88, and their own expert agreed that Defendants had sufficient notice to at least require inquiry, CP at 762. Regardless, Defendants' characterization of evidence

of their control over that unit. *See Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs.*, 116 Wn.2d 217, 229, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991) ("[O]ne's possession of land may give the possessor control over the conduct of others the land possessor allows to enter, so that the possessor is required to exercise that control for the protection of persons off the premises."); Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 315(a), 318.

regarding their notice of drug trafficking as "vague" is effectively a concession that such evidence exists. When more than one interpretation of the evidence is possible, factual determinations are for a jury, and the Court of Appeals did not err by concluding a jury must decide these issues of fact.

Furthermore, to the extent Defendants' complaints with the Court of Appeals opinion hinge on factual matters specific to this case, that opinion is not in conflict with any other decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals, nor would it pose a significant constitutional issue or involve an issue of substantial public importance. *See* RAP 13.4(b). In short, there is no error in any factual determination, and, even if there were, it would not justify review by this Court.

C. The conclusion that Ms. Celes's injuries were, as a legal matter, sufficiently foreseeable to permit a jury to decide the case was neither incorrect nor inconsistent with *McKown*.

The Court of Appeals concluded that Plaintiff may demonstrate foreseeability without proof of prior similar acts of violence, and this conclusion is neither erroneous nor in conflict with *McKown* or any other decision of this Court. Indeed, *McKown* stated—repeatedly—that proof of prior similar acts of violence is not the only means of establishing foreseeability. 182 Wn.2d at 761-62, 770, 774. And Washington courts have rejected the notion that a defendant is entitled to "one free crime" before liability may attach,¹³ which would be the inevitable result of a rule requiring proof of prior similar acts in every case.

The Court of Appeals further concluded that, because Plaintiff did not seek to demonstrate foreseeability via proof of prior similar acts, *McKown*'s prior-similar-incidents test did not apply, and that evidence Defendants knew of drug trafficking on the premises—a circumstance that can be expected to endanger nearby tenants—is cognizable evidence of foreseeability that a court may properly consider. McKown held that Washington law is consistent with comment f to section 344 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, which in turn states that possible bases for concluding a harm may be foreseeable include "past experience," as well as the nature and location of a business. 182 Wn.2d at 764. However, the McKown opinion's further analysis addressed only cases in which a plaintiff seeks to demonstrate foreseeability by proof of prior similar acts of violence "because that is the only basis for liability that the parties meaningfully address and the only one that the Ninth Circuit has asked us to clarify." Id. at 770. McKown did not hold—nor could it be expected to have held, given the unique facts of the case-that "past experience" is limited to prior similar acts of violence.¹⁴ This is entirely consistent with the illustrations in

¹³ See Quynn v. Bellevue Sch. Dist., 195 Wn. App. 627, 641, 383 P.3d 1053 (2016) (holding school's duty to protect students does not arise only after tortious acts occur, the law does not require "one free rape"); *accord Tanguma v. Yakima Cty.*, 18 Wn. App. 555, 563, 569 P.2d 1225 (1977) ("When negligent conduct produces a foreseeable risk of injury, the actor may not find refuge in a 'long history of good fortune."").

Accord McKown, 182 Wn.2d at 783 (Stephens, J., concurring) ("[T]he

the comments to section 344,¹⁵ with how *McKown* has been interpreted in the federal courts,¹⁶ and with a long line of Washington "special relationship" cases.¹⁷ The conclusion by the Court of Appeals on this point is neither erroneous nor in conflict with *McKown*.

Defendants suggest, with overwrought rhetoric but little analysis, that the Court of Appeals "gutted" *McKown*'s rejection of "'a broad notice rule' which 'would become an all-expansive standard for imposing a duty on a business" "to anticipate and protect against all conceivable third party crime."¹⁸ The *McKown* Court's concern was that "[b]ecause criminal activity is irrational and unpredictable," as with the random shooting at

Restatement does not artificially limit what evidence constitutes 'past experience.' Nor does it narrowly define 'past experience' to require prior similar acts on the same premises during the current owner's tenure.").

⁵ See Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 344, cmt. f, illus. 1 & 2.

¹⁶ After considering the Washington Supreme Court's decision in McKown following remand, the federal district court concluded that "the scope of relevant evidence [of foreseeability was] broadened" such that it may include not only prior similar acts of violence but also evidence of past experience more generally, or "institutional knowledge," as well as the place and character of the business. McKown v. Simon Prop. Grp., No. C08-5754BHS, 2016 WL 9185378, at *3 (W.D. Wash. July 7, 2016). Defendants attempt to distinguish this holding, arguing the defendant in McKown was more sophisticated and possessed greater relevant knowledge. Notably, this is not an argument that past experience must be limited to prior similar acts. Moreover, the distinction Defendants raise is a false one. The federal district court did not conclude that sophisticated defendants are held to a higher standard, but rather that the defendant at issue had information through its other experiences that made the injuries foreseeable even without evidence of prior similar acts. Here, even if Defendants were comparatively unsophisticated, they still had specific knowledge, obtained through their own experiences managing the Lone Pine Apartments, of ongoing activity on the premises known to pose a foreseeable risk to their tenants.

¹⁷ See McLeod v. Grant Cty. Sch. Dist. No. 128, 42 Wn.2d 316, 321, 255 P.2d 360 (1953) (stating it would "unjustifiably restrict the issue" to focus the foreseeability inquiry on "the specific type of incident which here occurred"); CP at 1006-07 (discussing "special relationship" cases that did not require proof of prior similar acts).

¹⁸ Pet., at 2 (quoting *McKown*, 182 Wn.2d at 772); *see also* Pet., at 11 (suggesting the opinion below may lead to "unlimited liability").

issue in that case, "it is in this sense invariably foreseeable everywhere." 182 Wn.2d at 771 (quotation marks omitted). For that reason, when the foreseeability of a random crime depends on proof of prior similar acts, those acts must be "sufficiently similar in nature and location," "sufficiently close in time," "and sufficiently numerous." *Id.* at 772. However, when a crime is not random—when the evidence of foreseeability includes Defendants' knowledge of regular, ongoing criminal activity on their premises that, in the opinion of their own expert, is "a crime generator" and has a "well-known nexus" to violence such that it requires aggressive response by property managers—the floodgates are not opened to liability for all crimes generally, and no "all-expansive" foreseeability standard has been adopted.

The Washington Supreme Court recently addressed fears about "unrestrained liability" in the context of special relationship cases. *See H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 176–77. The Court noted that the duty owed is limited to one of reasonable care under the circumstances and extends only to harms that are foreseeable. *Id.* The Court acknowledged the standard "general field of danger" test for foreseeability would apply in that instance and nevertheless concluded "concerns about limitless liability are without merit." *Id.* This is the balance our tort system has struck in myriad contexts.

Similarly, the Court of Appeals ruling does not run contrary to the principle that "a possessor of the land has no duty to all others under a

generalized standard of reasonable care, or under all the circumstances." Pet., at 16. Statements to this effect appear in the case law, but they pertain to requests to abandon traditional premises liability standards of care owed by owners or occupiers of land, that is, tiered duties based on the status of visitors as invitees, licensees, or trespassers. *See, e.g., McKown*, 182 Wn.2d at 764–65. While the courts have rejected requests to abandon that framework, the opinion below is perfectly consistent with traditional premises liability standards of care, applicable only to the categories of potential claimants recognized at common law: Ms. Celes is an invitee and tenant, so the decision in this case will do nothing to extend liability "to all others" or "under all the circumstances."¹⁹

Finally, Defendants assert that "the focus [of Plaintiff's argument] was on whether a duty is owed based upon acts of similar violence" and that "[n]o other avenue was argued" such that the Court of Appeals erred by failing to insist on proof of prior similar acts of violence in this case. Pet., at 13. This characterization of Plaintiff's arguments is transparently false. Among other things, Plaintiff expressly represented that she was *not* attempting to establish foreseeability by prior similar acts of violence,²⁰ as

¹⁹ Nor does a ruling for Plaintiff subject landowners to liability merely because they are located in a high crime area. *See* Pet., at 19. Liability merely by virtue of presence in a high crime area is not the same as liability for harms arising from specific, ongoing criminal conduct known to be dangerous, of which a business has notice, and *arising from its own property and under its own control*. Whether a business is located in a generally high crime area is irrelevant in the latter circumstances, and *McKown* did not give businesses license to ignore dangerous and ongoing criminal activities based on their own properties.

⁰ *E.g.*, RP at 20 ("Plaintiff is not trying to prove this [case] by prior similar acts.").

proof of prior similar acts was not required.²¹ Rather than making an argument regarding prior similar acts of violence, Plaintiff unambiguously argued to the trial court that Defendant's *other* experiences in operating the Lone Pine Apartments gave them specific notice of ongoing drug-trafficking, from which Ms. Celes's injuries could be reasonably foreseen.²² Moreover, even if Defendants were correct about the limited nature of Plaintiff's arguments—they are not—the case-specific error correction they seek does not justify review by this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b).

D. Defendants' policy arguments are a distraction and do not justify review.

Defendants contend that "'[a]s a matter of public policy, it is not in the community's interest to impose an additional duty to landowners who are willing to provide housing to lower income and more vulnerable populations." Pet., at 19. However, there is no "additional duty" at issue in this instance, as, among other things, landowners *already have a duty under*

²¹ *E.g.*, CP at 701; RP at 20.

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